A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived appellant of a fair trial. 

2. The court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser

included offense of third-degree theft. RP 153-67. 

3. The court erred in finding appellant was convicted of theft by 

taking in Utah in 1988. CP 61. 

4. The court erred in checking the box stating the jury found 

appellant was armed with a deadly weapon. CP 56. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Appellant told the arresting police officer he did not hurt 

anyone or push anyone, but instead "just left the place" and "just walked 

out the door." Viewed in the light most favorable to the defense, did these 

facts warrant instructing the jury on the lesser-included offense of third

degree theft? 

2. The desk clerk at the hotel testified at length about being an 

immigrant, working two jobs to send her son to college, spending time 

watching her younger son's football games, and going to church. The 

prosecutor reiterated this testimony in closing argument and also urged the 

jury to consider "what it would feel like to have your life threatened, to 

have someone threaten you over a bag of candy." The prosecutor further 

argued the threat is a "violation of your dignity as a person" and "there 
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was something else stolen, it's a small part of Ms. Lockett's human 

being." The prosecutor also urged the jury to convict based on the desk 

clerk's testimony because otherwise, it would be extremely difficult for 

anyone who was attacked while alone. Did the prosecutor's repeated 

emotional appeals constitute misconduct that deprived appellant of a fair 

trial? 

3. The references in the judgment and sentence to a special 

verdict that appellant was armed with a deadly weapon and to a 1988 Utah 

conviction for theft by taking appear to be scrivener's errors. Should the 

case be remanded for correction of the judgment and sentence? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural Facts 

The King County prosecutor charged appellant William Sancomb 

with one count of robbery in the second degree while armed with a deadly 

weapon. CP 12. The jury found Sancomb guilty, but rejected the deadly 

weapon finding. CP 51, 52. The court imposed a standard range sentence 

and 18 months of community custody. CP 56, 58. Notice of appeal was 

timely filed. CP 53. 

2. Substantive Facts 

The night desk clerk at the Silver Cloud Hotel in Bellevue testified it 

was Sancomb who grabbed a large quantity of candy, soda, and other items 
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from the "sundry store" near the front desk late one night. RP 93-9S. When 

she pursued him, asking whether he wanted the items charged to his room or 

if he wanted to pay cash, she claimed Sancomb showed her a knife and 

asked if she wanted to die for some candy. RP 96-97. She claimed the knife 

police found on the counter at the front desk was the one she put there after 

Sancomb dropped it as he was leaving. RP 46, 100, 109. 

A police dog tracked from the hotel to a nearby parking garage, 

where police found Sancomb, eating a candy bar and drinking a soda. RP 

IS-20. The police brought Sancomb back to the hotel, where the clerk 

identified him. RP 110. En route to jail, Sancomb told Officer Cufley he did 

not think this case should be a robbery because he did not hurt anyone. RP 

7S . He told Cufley he "just left the place" and "just walked out the door." 

RP7S. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. SANCOMB WAS ENTITLED TO HAVE THE JURY 
INSTRUCTED ON THIRD-DEGREE THEFT. 

When an element of the offense remains in doubt, but the 

defendant appears guilty of some wrongdoing, the jury is likely to resolve 

its doubts in favor of conviction. Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 

212-13,93 S. Ct. 1993,36 L. Ed. 2d 844 (1973); see also Kyron Huigens, 

The Doctrine of Lesser Included Offenses, 16 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 185, 
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193 (1992) ("When faced with a choice between acquittal and conviction of 

a crime not quite proved by the evidence, a jury can be expected, if some sort 

of wrongdoing is evident, to opt for conviction. "). 

This distortion of the fact-finding process is part of the rationale 

behind the common law rule, codified in every state and under the Federal 

Rules of Criminal Procedure, that defendants are entitled to have the jury 

instructed on lesser-included offenses. Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 , 

633-36, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980). Providing the jury with 

a third option of convicting on a lesser-included offense "ensures that the 

jury will accord the defendant the full benefit of the reasonable-doubt 

standard." Id. at 634. 

Defendants are entitled to have juries instructed not only on the 

charged offense, but also on all lesser-included offenses. RCW 10.61 .006. 

A defendant is entitled to a lesser offense instruction when (1) each 

element of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the charged offense 

(legal prong) and (2) the evidence supports an inference that the defendant 

committed only the lesser offense (factual prong). State v. Workman, 90 

Wn.2d 443,447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). 

A trial court ' s refusal to give a jury instruction based on the law is 

reviewed de novo. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 

(1998). When an otherwise discretionary decision is based solely on 
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application of a court rule or statute to particular facts, the issue is also one 

of law reviewed de novo. State v. Tatum, 74 Wn. App. 81 , 86, 871 P.2d 

1123 (1994). De novo review is appropriate in this case because the trial 

court denied the lesser offense instruction based on an error of law, 

erroneously applied the law to the facts , and violated Sancomb's 

constitutional rights when it refused to give his requested jury instructions 

on the lesser-included offense of third-degree theft. CP 19-22, 26-29, 31; 

RP 163, 167. 

The legal prong of the analysis is satisfied here because second

degree robbery includes every element of third-degree theft. Second degree 

robbery is proved if a person (1) unlawfully takes; (2) personal property; (3) 

from the person of another or in his presence; (4) against that person's will 

by use of or threat of force, violence, or fear of injury. RCW 9A.56.190. 

Robbery also includes the non-statutory element of intent to steal, which is 

the equivalent of the intent to deprive the victim of the property. State v. 

Ralph, 175 Wn. App. 814,824-25,308 P.3d 729 (2013) rev. denied, 179 

Wn.2d 1017 (2014) (citing State v. Sublett 176 Wn.2d 58, 88, 292 P.3d 715 

(2012)). Third degree theft requires only that the person "wrongfully obtain 

or exert unauthorized control over the property ... of another ... with intent 

to deprive him or her of such property." RCW 9A.56.020. 
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The primary difference between theft and robbery is the use or threat 

of force. State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 630,191 P.3d 99 (2008). 

Because all the elements of third-degree theft are also required to prove 

second-degree robbery, theft is legally a lesser-included offense. See State v. 

Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 292, 286 P.3d 996 (2012) aff'd, 

Wn.2d _ (no. 88118-9, filed July 17,2014) (strong probability in robbery 

case that jury would have convicted of lesser-included offense of theft if 

instruction had been given); State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471,526, 14 P.3d 

713 (2000) ("Clearly the requisite force or threat of force was present to 

dispel any claim that first degree theft, and not robbery, was committed" 

when victim was tied to a chair, strangled, and stabbed.). 

The factual component of the Workman analysis is satisfied when 

evidence raises an inference that the lesser-included offense was committed 

to the exclusion of the charged offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 

Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). In making this determination, the 

court must consider all evidence presented at trial by either party. Id. at 455-

56. On appellate review, the court views the supporting evidence in the light 

most favorable to the party seeking the instruction. Id. 

Here, Sancomb's own statements, as presented to the jury via the 

testimony of Officer Cufiey, raised an inference that Sancomb committed 

only third-degree theft and used no force or threat as would be required for 
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robbery. Cufley's testimony regarding Sancomb's statements was as 

follows: 

Q Did he tell you that he didn't think this incident 
should be a robbery because he did not hurt anyone? 

A He did, yes. 

Q Did he also tell you that he just left the place and he 
didn't push her? 

A Yes. 

Q Did he also tell you that he just walked out the door? 

A Yes. 

RP 75. Based on Sancomb's statements to Cufley that it was not a robbery 

because he ''just left the place," and ''just walked out the door," a reasonable 

juror could have concluded Sancomb merely stole food, without any force or 

violence, thereby committing only third-degree theft. 

Despite this testimony, the trial court refused to give the requested 

instructions on third-degree theft because Sancomb' s statements to police 

were not made under oath. RP 163. The court stated it might give the 

instruction if Sancomb were to testify. RP 167. This reasoning was an error 

of law that distorts the legal standard. Evidence supporting the requested 

instruction must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting 

the instruction and may come from either party. Fernandez-Medina, 141 

Wn.2d at 455-56. Not only was Sancomb not required to testify, but the 
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instruction would have been required based on these statements even if they 

were inconsistent with his sworn testimony. Id. at 448, 453-57. 

An accused person has an unqualified right to submit a lesser offense 

to the jury if there is "'even the slightest evidence'" he may have committed 

only that offense. State v. Parker, 102 Wn.2d 161 , 163 64, 683 P.2d 189 

(1984) (quoting State v. Young, 22 Wn. 273, 276 77, 60 P. 650 (1900)). 

Sancomb's statements to Cufley indicated he committed only theft. The 

court committed reversible error in refusing his proposed jury instructions on 

that offense. 

2. THE PROSECUTOR'S FREQUENT EMOTIONAL 
APPEALS VIOLATED SANCOMB'S RIGHT TO A FAIR 
TRIAL AND AN IMPARTIAL JURY. 

A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer representing the people of the 

state in the search for justice. State v. Monday, 171 Wn. 2d 667, 676, 257 

P.3d 551, 556 (2011). But "defendants are among the people the prosecutor 

represents." Id. Thus, "the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that 

their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." Id. A prosecuting 

attorney's misconduct during closing argument can deny an accused his right 

to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22. 

State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). 

Prosecutorial misconduct violates the defendant's right to a fair trial 

and requires reversal of the conviction when the prosecutor's argument was 
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improper misconduct and there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct 

affected the verdict. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 

703-04, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Even when there was no objection at trial, 

reversal is required when the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned 

as to be incurable by instruction. Id. The focus of this inquiry is more on 

whether the effect of the argument could be cured than on the prosecutor's 

mindset or intent. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 

(2012) rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012) (citing State v. Emery, 174 

Wn.2d 741, 759-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)). 

Here, the prosecutor intentionally elicited irrelevant testimony 

about the victim's background that was designed to arouse jurors' 

sympathy and appeal to their emotions. He then emphasized this evidence 

in closing argument and argued the jury should, in effect, put themselves 

in the victim's shoes. The prosecutor's conduct was improper and created 

an emotional effect that could not be cured. Alternatively, counsel was 

ineffective in failing to object. 

a. The Prosecutor Committed Incurable Misconduct 
By Intentionally Creating an Emotional Effect that 
Aligned the Jury with the Victim. 

"A trial in which irrelevant and inflammatory matter is introduced, 

which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused, is not 

a fair trial." State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968). 
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Therefore, "The prosecutor should not use arguments calculated to inflame 

the passions or prejudices of the jury." Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704 

(quoting American Bar Association, Standards for Criminal Justice .std. 3-

5.8(c) (2d ed. 1980). Moreover, comments that urge jurors to sympathize 

with the victim and otherwise distract jurors from determining whether the 

State has proven each element of the crime are improper. People v. 

Littlejohn, 144 Ill. App. 3d 813, 827, 494 N.E.2d 677 (Ill. App. 1986); see 

also State v. Mills, 748 A.2d 318, 323-24 (Conn. App. 2000) (improper for 

prosecutor to tell jury not to victimize the victim again). 

Here, the prosecutor first elicited testimony that the desk clerk was 

an immigrant from Uganda who arrived in this country in 2000. RP 77. She 

was working two jobs to pay tuition for one of her sons who attends 

Washington State University, and spends her minimal free time attending her 

other son's football games and going to church. RP 79-80. None of this 

information was relevant to any issue properly before the jury. Its only 

purpose was to appeal to the jury's sympathies for the hard-working 

immigrant mother of two. 

The prosecutor's closing argument reinforced this purpose. The first 

paragraph of the closing argument focused solely on sympathy for Lockett: 

Prossie Lockett is the mother of two children. She works two 
jobs in order to support her family. She has her one kid who 
is in high school and her other kid was in college. She came 
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all the way from Uganda so she could provide - to the US so 
she could provide her family with a better life. But on June 
6, 2013, all that Prossie has been working hard for, all the 
struggles that she has gone through were put at risk. 

RP 190. The prosecutor's final argument at the end of rebuttal put a final 

cap on this emotional appeal by arguing to the jury that there was more than 

just candy and soda stolen that day: "Now there was candy and things 

stolen, but there was something else stolen, it's a small part of Ms. Lockett's 

human being." RP 232. 

In addition to urging the jury to base its decision on sympathy for 

Lockett, the prosecutor also repeatedly relied on an improper "golden rule" 

argument. He argued, "you have to remember Ms. Lockett, and what it 

would feel like to have your life threatened, to have someone threaten you 

over a bag of candy, to have someone ask you if you are willing to die over 

candy." RP 190-91. In rebuttal, he again urged jurors to put themselves in 

Lockett's shoes: "I don't know if you've ever been threatened, but you can 

all imagine that that threat is something that sticks with you; it's something 

that stays with you. That threat is a violation of your dignity as a person." 

RP 230. 

"Urging the jurors to place themselves in the position of one of the 

parties to the litigation, or to grant a party the recovery they would wish 

themselves if they were in the same position," is an improper argument 
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because it "encourages jurors to depart from neutrality and decide the case 

on the basis of personal interest rather than on the evidence." Adkins v. 

Aluminum Co. of Am. , 110 Wn.2d 128, 139, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988); see also 

Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 155 (argument victims would never have expected 

to be murdered was improper because it was irrelevant and invited jury to 

place themselves in victims' shoes, thereby increasing the prejudice). The 

prosecutor's comments in this case encouraged the jury to rely upon their 

personal interests and sympathies rather than the evidence. 

The Supreme Court in State v. Borboa l stated in footnoted dictum 

that it was "not convinced that the prohibition on 'golden rule' arguments 

applies in the criminal context," suggesting the more appropriate way to 

frame the argument is by contending the prosecutor improperly appealed to 

the sympathy and passions of the jury. The golden rule admonition is thus 

perhaps best viewed as "a subset of the general rule that the prosecutor 

should not appeal to the jury' s emotions and sympathy for the victim of a 

crime." Tyree v. United States, 942 A.2d 629, 643 (D.C. 2008). In any 

event, other jurisdictions recognize the impropriety of using golden rule 

arguments in criminal cases. See, e.g., Johnson v. Bell, 525 F.3d 466, 484 

(6th Cir. 2008); Lee v. State, 950 A.2d 125, 138-39 (Md. 2008). Division 

I 157 Wn.2d 108, 124 n.5 , 135 P. 3d 469 (2006). 
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Two of this Court has done so as well. State v. Thach, 126 Wn. App. 297, 

317, 106 P.3d 782 (2005). 

As explained by the Mississippi Supreme Court: 

It is the essence of our system of courts and laws that every 
party is entitled to a fair and impartial jury. It is a 
fundamental tenet of our system that a man may not judge his 
own case, for experience teaches that men are usually not 
impartial and fair when self interest is involved. Therefore, it 
is improper to permit an attorney to tell the jury to put 
themselves in the shoes of one of the parties or to apply the 
golden rule. Attorneys should not tell a jury, in effect, that the 
law authorizes it to depart from neutrality and to make its 
determination from the point of view of bias or personal 
interest. 

Chisholm v. State, 529 So.2d 635, 640 (1988). Whether viewed as a "do 

unto others as you would have them do unto you" or "golden rule" argument 

or merely as an emotional appeal to the jury's sympathy, the prosecutor's 

comments were improper. 

It was also misconduct for the prosecutor to urge the jury to convict 

based on what might happen in other cases. The prosecutor argued the jury 

should convict because, "If you believe the defense's theory of the case, it 

makes it extremely difficult for all those cases where a person is alone in 

their attack .... " RP 230-31. This argument is akin to the improper "send a 

message" arguments. The State may not urge a jury to convict in order to 

send a message to criminals that crime will not be tolerated or to victims that 

they will be protected and believed. See, e.g., United States v. Nobari, 574 
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F.3d 1065, 1076 (9th Cir. 2009) (Prosecutors may not urge jurors to convict 

in order to protect community values, preserve civil order, or deter future 

lawbreaking because such reasons are wholly irrelevant to the defendant's 

own guilt or innocence); State v. Mejia-Perez, 134 Wn. App. 907, 915-

16,143 P.3d 838 (2006) (misconduct to urge jurors to base a guilty verdict on 

a goal of sending a message to gangs or taking part in a mission to end 

violence); State v. Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914, 919, 816 P.2d 86 (1991) 

(prosecutor improperly argued acquittal would send a message that children 

reporting sexual abuse are not going to be believed, thereby '''declaring open 

season on children"'); State v. Bautista-Caldera, 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 

116 (1989) (holding prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing, "[D]o 

not tell that child that this type of touching is okay, that this is just something 

that she will have to learn to live with. Let her and children know that you're 

ready to believe them and [e ]nforce the law on their behalf' because the 

argument "in effect exhorts the jury to send a message to society about the 

general problem of child sexual abuse). 

Sancomb was denied a fair trial when the prosecutor engaged in 

improper emotional appeals to the jury's passions and sympathies. The 

misconduct here was incurable by instruction because it began with eliciting 

the victim's testimony, formed the major thrust of closing argument 

beginning with the opening salvo, and continued through the end of the 
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rebuttal argument. In general, arguments that have an inflammatory effect 

on the jury are not curable by instruction. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762-63; 

Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 552. The prosecutor's flagrant appeal to the jury's 

emotions violated Sancomb's right to a fair trial and his conviction should be 

reversed. 

b. Sancomb's Attorney Was Ineffective In Failing To 
Object To Prosecutorial Argument That Aligned the 
Jury Against Him and Deprived Him of a Neutral 
Fact -Finder. 

Alternatively, if this Court concludes this issue was not preserved, 

Sancomb was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when 

counsel failed to object to the misconduct. The federal and state 

constitutions guarantee all defendants the right to effective representation at 

trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 

674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) 

(citing U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. 1, § 22). Ineffective assistance of 

counsel is a constitutional error that may be considered for the first time on

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