71632-8

71632-8

NO. 71632-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

WILLIAM SANCOMB,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DOUGLASS A. NORTH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE D. KNIGHTLINGER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THIRD DEGREE THEFT.

Sancomb maintains that the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of third degree theft.

However, neither Sancomb's statement nor any other evidence admitted at trial raised the inference that Sancomb committed only third degree theft. The trial court thus properly exercised its discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on this lesser crime.

A defendant may be tried only for the offenses charged.

Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 889, 948 P.2d 381 (1997). As an exception to this rule, a defendant may be tried for an offense "the commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he or she is charged in the information." RCW 10.61.006. These are termed lesser included offenses. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d at 890.

A jury instruction on a lesser included offense is warranted when: 1) each of the elements of the lesser offense are necessary elements of the charged offense (the legal component), and 2) the evidence supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed (the factual component). State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)).

Third degree theft is a legal lesser included offense of second degree robbery. Robbery requires proof, *inter alia*, that the defendant took property with the intent to steal. RCW 9A.56.190;

See State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 88, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

Third degree theft also requires proof that a person committed theft of property. RCW 9A.56.050. The factual component is at issue here.

The purpose of the factual component "is to ensure that there is evidence to support the giving of the requested instruction."
Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn. 2d at 455. It requires a "more particularized showing than that required for other jury instructions."
Id. "[T]he evidence must raise an inference that *only* the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." Id. (emphasis in original).

The trial court must consider all of the evidence presented, regardless of which party introduced it. <u>Id.</u> at 456. However, it requires more than that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt -- "[T]he evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant's theory of the case." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Fowler</u>, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990), <u>overruled on other grounds by State v. Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)).

The appellate court reviews the trial court's decision on whether the evidence meets the factual component for abuse of discretion. State v. LaPlant, 157 Wn. App. 685, 687, 239 P.3d 366

(2010). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. <u>Fernandez-Medina</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56.

Here, the trial court properly determined that Sancomb had not met the factual component and, therefore, was not entitled to the lesser included offense instruction. Neither Sancomb's statement nor any other evidence presented at trial affirmatively established that Sancomb committed *only* third degree theft.

The prosecutor elicited Sancomb's statement from Officer Cufley:

- Q: On the way to the jail did Mr. Sancomb talk with you?
- A: He did.
- Q: Did he tell you that he didn't think this incident should be a robbery because he did not hurt anyone?
- A: He did, yes.
- Q: Did he also tell you that he just left the place and he didn't push her?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Did he also tell you that he just walked out the door?
- A: Yes.

RP 75.

Sancomb's statement established only his incorrect opinion that a robbery required an assault of some kind. Sancomb did not deny that he had threatened Lockett or brandished a knife. Even

with this statement, Sancomb was relying on the fact that the jury might not believe portions of Lockett's testimony. That is not sufficient to meet the factual component of the test.

A comparison to <u>Fernandez-Medina</u> is instructive.

141 Wn.2d at 449-52. In that case, it was error to deny the defendant's requested second degree assault instruction. <u>Id.</u> at 451. The defendant was charged with two counts of attempted murder, or, alternatively, first degree assault. <u>Id.</u> The evidence showed that Fernandez-Medina pointed a firearm at one victim's head; she heard a click as if the trigger had been pulled, but the gun did not fire. <u>Id.</u> Fernandez-Medina testified and denied committing the crimes. <u>Id.</u> However, an expert testified that a firearm may make a clicking sound, even when the trigger has not been pulled. <u>Id.</u> at 451-52. This raised the inference that the defendant had not pulled the trigger, and had committed only the lesser crime of second degree assault. <u>Id.</u> at 456.

By comparison, Sancomb has no evidence to point to that raises the inference that he committed *only* theft. His statement is entirely consistent with the State's theory of the case; that he stole the candy, threatened Lockett, and brandished a knife. As the trial court found, even with his statement, Sancomb was relying on the

jury disbelieving Lockett's testimony. RP 167-68. That is not sufficient.

Sancomb asserts that the trial court erred because it did not consider Sancomb's statement as it was not made under oath.

While the trial court did comment on this fact, the court clarified that that was not the sole basis for its decision. RP 169. Rather, the trial court found Sancomb's statement insufficient to meet the affirmative proof required based on Fowler, 114 Wn.2d at 67;

State v. Brown, 127 Wn.2d 749, 755-56, 903 P.2d 459 (1995); and State v. Speece, 115 Wn.2d 360, 362-63, 798 P.2d 294 (1994).

RP 160-61, 167-68. The court summarized its view of the defense argument:

Basically, what you are asking the jury to do is simply to disbelieve some of Ms. Lockett's testimony. Now, they can certainly do that if there is evidence to the contrary and there is a choice for them to make. But at this point I wouldn't give the lesser included. Obviously you can confer with Mr. Sancomb on whether he wants to testify. And obviously, if he testifies and provides a basis for a lesser included, then I'd give it.

RP 167. The court later clarified again, ". . .[Y]ou are not lacking in the fact that there's a theft in the third degree. . .legally that's a

² The verbatim report of proceedings states that the trial court referred to the case of "<u>State v. Spence</u>." RP 160-61. However, the context and discussion in the record indicate that the trial court was referring to <u>State v. Speece</u>. RP 161.

lesser included. The question is whether there is affirmative evidence suggesting that that's all there is as opposed to a robbery." RP 169-70.

The trial court's analysis properly centered on whether

Sancomb had met the affirmative proof required and properly

concluded that he had not met that standard. Sancomb's

statement did not raise the reasonable inference that he had

committed only theft. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in

denying the lesser included instruction.

2. SANCOMB CANNOT SHOW THAT HE WAS PREJUDICED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONS TO THE VICTIM, CLOSING ARGUMENT, OR BY HIS COUNSEL'S STRATEGIC DECISIONS NOT TO OBJECT.

Sancomb contends that several of the prosecutor's questions to the victim and three portions of the closing argument constituted misconduct and warrant reversal. In the alternative, he asserts that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to all but one of the remarks. Both claims fail. The questions and argument were not improper. Moreover, a curative instruction could have neutralized any prejudice.

 The Prosecutor's Questions Of The Victim And Closing Argument Did Not Constitute Prosecutorial Misconduct.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant bears the burden of establishing that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). "If the defendant did not object at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the prejudice." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. This requires a defendant to show that (1) a curative instruction could not have corrected the prejudicial effect of the misconduct, and (2) the resulting prejudice had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. Id. The reviewing court's focus is on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. Id. at 762.

The supreme court has recognized that "the absence of an objection by defense counsel 'strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n.2, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (emphasis in original)

(quoting <u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). That court has noted, "[T]here is great potential for abuse when a party does not object because '[a] party so situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal." <u>State v. Weber</u>, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271-72, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (quoting <u>State v. Sullivan</u>, 69 Wn. App. 167, 173, 847 P.2d 953 (1993)).

A prosecutor is afforded wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746-47, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). On review, the prosecutor's remarks are viewed "in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995); accord State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

However, deliberate appeals to the jury's passion and prejudice are prohibited. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 89. For example, it was improper for the prosecutor to play upon the jury's fears of the defendant's future dangerousness by arguing, "If you have a reasonable doubt that he killed these women, let him go. . .There is

no shortage of naieve [sic], trusting, foolish young people in the cities of this country. . ." <u>Id.</u> Even so, reversal is required only where the statements were so inflammatory that no instruction could have cured the prejudice. Id.

 The prosecutor's questions to Lockett regarding her background, work schedule, and language abilities were relevant and the closing argument incorporating this testimony was not improper.

Sancomb's first claim is that the prosecutor's questions about Lockett's background and later argument including these facts were improper. However, Lockett's background, work schedule, and language abilities were relevant to her credibility, specifically her ability to perceive and accurately testify. See 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 1.02 (3d ed. 2008), (in evaluating the credibility of a witness the jury may consider the ability of the witness to observe accurately).

Lockett was the only witness to the crime. RP 220. She was working her usual overnight shift at the Silver Cloud Hotel when Sancomb robbed her. RP 42, 80, 92. The prosecutor asked Lockett about her night job at the Silver Cloud Hotel as well as her

daytime jobs as a caregiver. RP 78. Sancomb's counsel asked similar questions and incorporated her answers into his closing argument. RP 111-12, 216. He argued:

[I]t's not a bad thing to work full-time and to work three jobs and work your butt off, but the downside to that is she's tired. The mind plays tricks on you. You are looking down an empty hallway in the middle of the night in the dark with glasses on and you can barely see yourself. The mind plays tricks on you.

RP 216. Lockett's jobs and work schedule were clearly relevant.

The prosecutor's questions and argument including these facts were not improper.

Similarly, Lockett's English language ability was relevant to her credibility. She was not a native English speaker. RP 136.

She had emigrated from Uganda ten years previously and learned British-style English in the fifth grade. RP 78, 136. At trial, Lockett used slightly different words to describe Sancomb's actions and threat than in her previous statements. RP 122-25.

Defense counsel focused his cross examination of Lockett and his closing argument on these inconsistencies. RP 117, 122-25, 127, 130. He impeached her. RP 116-31. He asked questions focused on whether she had said that Sancomb turned his head or his entire body to face her when he brandished the

knife. RP 120-24. At times, Lockett appeared confused by his questioning.³ RP 120-24. He argued in closing argument that Lockett was not credible due to these inconsistencies. RP 204-05. 214-15, 223-24.

By contrast, the prosecutor argued that these slight inconsistencies were because English was not Lockett's native language and she had learned British-style English in Uganda. RP 196. These were relevant facts for the jury to understand her testimony. As such, it was not improper for the prosecutor to ask these questions or to incorporate her answers into his closing argument.

Sancomb's Counsel: Okay. I am simply talking about your

interaction with him in that hallway.

Lockett:

Sancomb's Counsel: From this point forward until I say that we

are talking about something else.

Sancomb's Counsel: Okay? So let me back up. So when you

are down that hallway and after you say,

where is she -

Lockett:

Uh-huh.

Sancomb's Counsel: Okay?

Lockett:

Yes.

Sancomb's Counsel: He ends up turning; is that correct?

Lockett:

No, he did not.

Sancomb's Counsel: He did not turn?

Lockett:

Yes, if we are talking about the hallway.

Sancomb's Counsel: Yeah. I am simply talking about the

hallway.

RP 121.

³ For example, during cross-examination of Lockett this exchange occurred:

 The prosecutor appropriately argued the serious facts of the case and did not make an improper emotional appeal to the jury.

Second, Sancomb contends that the prosecutor made an improper emotional appeal to the jury and an improper "golden rule" argument.⁴ This claim also fails. The context of the arguments shows the prosecutor appropriately argued the serious facts of the case, including that Sancomb had threatened the victim's life.

Preliminarily, the supreme court has noted that in criminal cases, "golden rule" arguments are likely best viewed as improper appeals to the jury's passion or prejudice. <u>Borboa</u>, 157 Wn.2d at 125 n.5. Regardless, whether viewed as an alleged "golden rule" argument or as an appeal to the jury's passion or prejudice, the arguments were not improper in context.

In this case, the central issue was Sancomb's threat in order to retain the property he had stolen. RP 191, 197, 200, 203, 206-07, 218, 222-23. To prove that Sancomb committed second degree robbery, the State had to show that, *inter alia*, Sancomb took personal property by threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury. 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim.

⁴ A "golden rule" argument improperly urges the jurors to place themselves in the shoes of one of the parties. <u>State v. Borboa</u>, 157 Wn.2d 108, 125 n.4, 135 P.3d 469 (2006).

WPIC 37.04 (3d ed. 2008); RCW 9A.56.190. Sancomb's counsel argued that the State had overcharged Sancomb by charging robbery rather than theft. RP 206-07, 218.

The prosecutor began his closing argument by focusing on Lockett and the threat that Sancomb had made to her. RP 190.

The prosecutor then argued:

Now, you may be asking yourself, what's the big deal, this is all over just some candy and some cherry Coke and some bags of chips. But you have to remember Ms. Lockett, and what it would feel like to have your life threatened, to have someone threaten you over a bag of candy, to have someone ask you if you are willing to die over candy.

You see, that's the reason why we are here today. That's the reason why Mr. Sancomb is here today is because of that threat, the threat that he made to Prossie.

RP 190-91 (emphasis added). While it may have been inartfully worded, it is clear from the context that the prosecutor was urging the jurors to consider the evidence of the threat.

The remainder of the prosecutor's closing argument focused on the elements of the crime, evidence admitted at trial, and Lockett's credibility. RP 194-03. In rebuttal, the prosecutor came back to Sancomb's threat to Lockett. He explained:

I don't know if you've ever been threatened, but you can all imagine that that threat is something that

sticks with you; it's something that stays with you. That threat is a violation of your dignity as a person. And there was no doubt in Ms. Lockett's mind that a threat was made to her.

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